# **RECEIVED** 07-13-2015

07-13-20

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2014AP001267-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANDY J. PARISI,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Winnebago County, the Honorable Daniel J. Bissett, Presiding.

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

TRISTAN S. BREEDLOVE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081378

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8384 breedlovet@opd.wi.gov

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Police responded to a call that Mr. Parisi was possibly not breathing at an apartment. After he was taken to the hospital, Mr. Parisi's blood was drawn without a warrant and without his consent to test for evidence of heroin use. Could the police officer in this case have reasonably relied on *State v. Bohling* in conducting the warrantless blood draw even though *Bohling* was about testing for a specific alcohol concentration level in a drunk driving context and this is a non-driving case that involves testing for heroin in any detectable amount?

The circuit court did not consider this question.

The court of appeals ruled that the police officer could have reasonably relied on *Bohling* in concluding that the dissipation of drugs in Mr. Parisi's bloodstream, alone, constituted an exigent circumstance justifying the warrantless blood draw.

2. Were there exigent circumstances justifying the warrantless blood draw?

The circuit court answered yes.

Because it ruled against Mr. Parisi on the issue of the good faith exception, the court of appeals did not reach the question of exigency.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Given the court's grant of review, oral argument and publication are warranted.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state filed a complaint charging Andy J. Parisi with possession of narcotic drugs, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(am). (1). An information charging the same was filed on May 2, 2013. (3). Mr. Parisi filed a motion asking the court to suppress the results of warrantless blood draw, which indicated he had morphine, a metabolite of heroin, in his system. (6). After holding a hearing, the court denied the suppression motion. (30:41; App. 114). On September 13, 2013, Mr. Parisi entered a no contest plea to possession of narcotic drugs. (32:2). On November 25, 2013, the court, the Honorable Daniel J. Bissett presiding, withheld sentence, imposed 24 months of probation, and ordered that Mr. Parisi serve 90 days of condition time, which the court stayed pending appeal. (33:15). Mr. Parisi filed a timely notice of appeal on May 23, 2014. (26).

The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's decision, holding that the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule applied in this case because on the day Mr. Parisi's blood was drawn, *State v. Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d 529, 494 N.W.2d 399 (1993), *abrogated by Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. 1552 (2013), was the law of the state and the officer could have reasonably relied on that case in concluding that the dissipation of drugs, alone, constituted an exigent circumstance justifying the warrantless blood draw. *State of Wisconsin v. Andy J. Parisi*,

No. 2014AP1267-CR, unpublished slip op. (WI App January 21, 2015) (Slip op. at ¶¶9-12; App. 103-04).

On June 12, 2015, this Court granted Mr. Parisi's petition for review.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

At 12:38 a.m. on October 16, 2012, Oshkosh police were dispatched to an apartment to attend to a person who was possibly not breathing. (1:1-2; 30:5). Police arrived five to ten minutes after the dispatch. (30: 10). A woman who lived in the apartment directed them in. (30:6). Fire department paramedics and four roommates who lived in the apartment were already there. *Id.* Police observed Mr. Parisi, who was a visitor there, laying motionless on the floor with "puke" on the sofa and floor near him. (30:6-7, 9). A total of five or six police officers were present working on the call. (30:21).

Officer Benjamin Fenhouse observed paramedics administer Narcan, which Fenhouse knew was used to revive persons overdosing on heroin. (30:15). Fenhouse had personally witnessed Narcan administered "between five and ten times" in other cases. *Id.* 

Officer Fenhouse was at the apartment "probably like 20 minutes to a half hour" when Mr. Parisi was transported by ambulance to Aurora Medical Center in Oshkosh. (30:16-17). Fenhouse followed the ambulance to the hospital for the purpose of obtaining a blood sample. (30:16). Specifically, Fenhouse went to "investigate a heroin overdose and obtain I guess an evidentiary test of his blood." (30:16). He stated he planned to get the blood sample to "analyze it for evidence of a crime." (30:18).

Fenhouse asked Mr. Parisi for consent to draw blood. (30:21). When Mr. Parisi declined, Fenhouse directed medical staff to take the sample anyway. (30:21, 23). The phlebotomist first attempted to take blood at 1:55 a.m., but because Mr. Parisi was medically unstable, did not actually obtain a sample until 3:10 a.m. (30:17, 23-24).

Fenhouse testified that he has been involved in "about 12" other investigations where search warrants were obtained. (30:19). Fenhouse stated in those cases when consent was denied, an officer had to "go back and type out a search warrant" and then "make contact with a judge." *Id.* Fenhouse indicated that it takes "approximately two hours from the start of that process until it's actually signed by a judge." (30:21, 24).

Neither Fenhouse nor any of the other officers applied for a search warrant. (30:22, 24).

The blood sample, when tested, indicated the presence of morphine (which can appear in blood as a metabolite of heroin) in Mr. Parisi's blood. (1:2).

While Mr. Parisi was being transported to and treated at the Aurora Medical Center, Officer Kaosinu Moua interviewed witnesses at the apartment. (1:2). The witnesses reported that Mr. Parisi did not live there and had come over to watch a football game around 9:00 or 9:30 p.m. that evening. (1:2; 30:7). At some point during the course of the night, he left to go to a nearby gas station to get something to eat and drink. (1:2; 30:10). He returned to the residence after the occupants had gone to bed. (1:2; 30:7). One of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> He also said the whole process can take between three and five hours but clarified it only takes two hours to get a warrant signed and the additional time is to carry out searches. (30:20, 24).

residents woke up and discovered Mr. Parisi in the living room having breathing difficulty. (1:2; 30:7-8).

Although Mr. Parisi did not live at the apartment and was found in the living room, Officer Moua searched the other rooms of the apartment and found a marijuana pipe and a substance that was later confirmed to be heroin in one of the bedrooms. (1:2; 30:8-9).

#### Suppression Motion and Hearing

Mr. Parisi filed a motion to suppress the results of the warrantless blood draw. At the suppression hearing, Officers Fenhouse and Kaosinu Moua testified to the above-outlined facts. Relying on an article written "to review the pharmacokinetics of heroin and its metabolites and the influence of the route of administration, drug-interactions and the presence of liver and kidney impairment on the pharmacokinetics," the state argued that both heroin and 6-monoacetylmorphine,<sup>2</sup> the first metabolite of heroin, dissipate quickly from blood. (7:2; 30:27-28; App. 126-35).

The state acknowledged that morphine, a metabolite of heroin, stays in the blood longer but did not provide information on its rate of dissipation. (7:2). The state argued that the presence of morphine, while relevant to a charge of heroin possession, does not provide conclusive evidence of heroin use and thus officers need to be permitted to draw blood quickly without a warrant in order to get evidence of the presence of heroin or 6-monoacetylmorphine in the blood. (7:2; 30:28-29). The state argued for a per se rule that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 6-monoacetylmorphine is also commonly referred to as 6-acetylmorphine and is referred to that way in some of the articles in the attached appendix.

warrantless blood draws be permitted in any case involving heroin. (30:30).

Mr. Parisi argued there was no exigency because six officers were working on the case and one of them easily could have started the warrant application process right away. (30:35-36). Further, the officer at the hospital did nothing during the time it took to get Mr. Parisi stabilized, when he could have used that time to try to obtain a warrant. (30:34). Mr. Parisi also noted that a forced blood draw implicates an individual's expectation of privacy, there was no evidence the officer thought heroin would dissipate quickly when he made his decision to pursue a warrantless blood draw, and the state could prove possession with any amount of morphine detected in Mr. Parisi's blood. (30:31-33).

The circuit court denied the suppression motion. The court declined to adopt the state's proposed per se rule that warrantless blood draws are acceptable in all heroin cases because of the rate of dissipation. (30:40; App. 113). However, citing *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. 1552, and its totality of the circumstances test, the court stated that the warrantless blood draw was justified in Mr. Parisi's case because of:

...the unknown time of intake of the substance, the delay that took place in trying to determine what the defendant may or may not have taken, and what his medical condition was, the delays that were involved in regards to the treatment of him at the hospital setting, the time that it would have taken for obtaining the warrant, the dissipation of the heroin within the human body, and the speed in which it does that.

(30:41; App. 114).

Mr. Parisi thereafter entered a no contest plea, was sentenced, and appealed. (32:2; 33:15; 26).

#### Court of Appeals Decision

Mr. Parisi argued in the court of appeals that information gleaned from the warrantless blood draw should have been suppressed because there was no exigency, there was ample time to secure a warrant, and the nature of the search was unreasonable. The state argued that the search was valid based upon good faith reliance on *Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d 529 (since abrogated by *McNeely*), which the state characterized as "controlling precedent." The state argued *Bohling* established a per se rule allowing police to seize blood without a warrant to obtain evidence that rapidly dissipates with time. The state also argued that the rate of dissipation of heroin's first metabolite, 6-acetylmorphine, constituted an exigent circumstance which excused the police from obtaining a warrant.

The court of appeals affirmed. In the court's view, **Bohling** was good law in Wisconsin on the date police obtained the warrantless blood draw and Bohling "held that the dissipation of alcohol in a person's bloodstream, alone, constituted an exigent circumstance justifying a warrantless blood draw." (Slip op. ¶9; App. 103). Citing a footnote in Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure: A Treatise on the Fourth Amendment, § 5.3(c) at 226-228 & n.132 (5th ed. 2012), which referenced a New Hampshire case, the court reasoned "[g]iven this precedent, police could have reasonably concluded that the dissipation of controlled drugs in Parisi's blood stream, alone, constituted an exigent circumstance justifying a warrantless blood draw." Id. ¶10. (App. 103). The court held that "regardless of whether the warrantless blood draw of Parisi may or may not have been retroactively unlawful under new United States Supreme Court precedent [McNeely], the good faith exception precludes application of the exclusionary rule to exclude the evidence obtained." *Id.* ¶12. (App. 104).

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The Police Officer Could Not Have Reasonably Relied on *Bohling* Because Case Law Permitting a Warrantless Blood Draw to Test for a Specific Alcohol Concentration Level in a Drunk Driving Context is Not "Clear and Settled" Precedent Justifying a Test for Heroin in Any Detectable Amount in a Non-Driving Possession Case.
  - A. Introduction, summary of the argument and standard of review.

Police responded to a 911 call regarding Mr. Parisi and found him on the floor of an apartment he was visiting. After being revived, Mr. Parisi refused to consent to having his blood drawn but Officer Fenhouse ordered that a blood sample be taken anyway. At no time did any of the five or six officers involved in the case take any action to obtain a warrant.

The court of appeals ruled the warrantless blood draw was justified by reasonable reliance on *Bohling*. *Bohling* created a per se rule that allowed for warrantless blood draws in all cases of suspected drunk driving. 173 Wis. 2d at 533. *Bohling* did not discuss testing for drugs or testing for any substance in a non-driving context. In *McNeely*, the Supreme Court struck down *Bohling*'s per se rule stating that the dissipation of alcohol is not per se exigency and courts must consider the totality of the circumstances to decide if there are exigent circumstances to justify warrantless blood draws.

133 S. Ct. at 1563, 1568. Mr. Parisi's blood was drawn before *Bohling*'s per se rule was overturned by *McNeely*.

Thus, the question in this case is whether Officer Fenhouse could have reasonably relied on *Bohling* to draw Mr. Parisi's blood without a warrant even though *Bohling* was about alcohol concentration levels and driving and Mr. Parisi's case is about heroin in any detectable amount and did not involve a vehicle.

**State v. Dearborn** states that the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule applies "where officers conduct a search in objectively reasonable reliance upon clear and settled Wisconsin precedent that is later unconstitutional by the United States Supreme Court." 2010 WI 84, ¶ 4, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. This case does not pass the *Dearborn* test. The police officer in this case could not have reasonably relied on **Bohling** because **Bohling** was a drunk driving case about testing blood for a specific alcohol concentration level and this is a non-driving case about testing blood for any detectable amount of heroin. Bohling did not provide "clear and settled" precedent for Mr. Parisi's entirely different factual situation. Further, applying the good faith exception here would allow police officers to rely on precedent of factually dissimilar cases to conduct warrantless searches, creating a slippery slope and unduly expanding the scope of the good faith exception. Additionally, application of the exclusionary rule is appropriate in order to deter police misconduct.

In reviewing a circuit court's denial of a motion to suppress, this Court will uphold the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Sveum*, 2010 WI 92, ¶16, 328 Wis. 2d 369, 787 N.W.2d 317. However, the question of whether police conduct violates the

constitutional guarantee against unreasonable searches is a question of constitutional fact this Court reviews independently. *Id.* 

B. Summary of *Schmerber*, *Bohling* and *McNeely* and the *Dearborn* test for the good faith exception.

Both the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution Article Section of and 1. 11 the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee citizens the right to be free from unreasonable searches. The Fourth Amendment provides, in relevant part, "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated..." U.S. Const. Amend. IV. A warrantless search is per se unreasonable unless it falls within a recognized exception to the warrant requirement. State v. Boggess, 115 Wis. 2d 443, 449, 340 N.W.2d 516 (1983).

One recognized exception is the exigent circumstances exception which applies when there is a threat that evidence will be destroyed if time is taken to obtain a warrant. *State v. Faust*, 2004 WI 99, ¶11, 274 Wis. 2d 183, 682 N.W.2d 371. The test is an objective one inquiring into whether the officer might have reasonably believed an emergency threatened the destruction of evidence. *Id.*, ¶12.

The courts in *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757 (1966) and *State v. Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d at 533-34, found exigent circumstances existed. Additionally, exigent circumstances were discussed in *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. 1552. In contrast to Mr. Parisi's case, all three cases were about warrantless blood draws to test for alcohol concentration levels when drunk driving was suspected.

In *Schmerber*, the Supreme Court upheld a warrantless blood draw from a person under arrest for drunk driving because the percentage of alcohol in blood begins to diminish shortly after drinking stops, leaving inadequate time to seek a warrant. 384 U.S. at 770-71.

Following *Schmerber*, jurisdictions were split on whether the decision meant that in all drunk driving cases the dissipation of alcohol in blood was by itself an exigent circumstance justifying an exception to the warrant requirement. In *Bohling*, this Court held that the rapid dissipation of alcohol from blood, alone, amounted to a per se exigent circumstance justifying warrantless blood draws in all drunk driving cases. 173 Wis. 2d at 533.

In *McNeely*, another drunk driving case, the Supreme Court ruled that the dissipation of alcohol in one's blood is not a per se exigent circumstance justifying a warrantless blood draw and that whether a warrantless blood draw is reasonable must be determined on a case-by-case basis by examining the totality of the circumstances. 133 S. Ct. at 1563, 1568. *McNeely* thus abrogated *Bohling*. *See State v. Reese*, 2014 WI App 27, ¶¶17-18, 353 Wis. 2d 266, 844 N.W.2d 396.

*McNeely* was decided after Mr. Parisi's blood was drawn but before his case was before the circuit court.<sup>3</sup> Ordinarily, newly declared constitutional rules are applied retroactively to all pending cases that are not yet final at the time the decision was rendered. *Dearborn*, 327 Wis. 2d 252, ¶31 citing *U.S. v. Johnson*, 457 U.S. 537, 562 (1982). However, this rule of retroactivity does not always mean that the exclusionary rule is applied. As discussed in *Dearborn*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Parisi's blood was drawn on October 16, 2012. *McNeely* was decided on April 17, 2013. Mr. Parisi was arraigned on June 6, 2013.

the "good faith exception" to the exclusionary rule "precludes application of the exclusionary rule where officers conduct a search in objectively reasonable reliance on clear and settled Wisconsin precedent that is later deemed unconstitutional by the United States Supreme Court." 327 Wis. 2d 252, ¶51.

In *Reese*, 353 Wis. 2d 266, ¶22, the court of appeals ruled that the good faith exception precluded the application of the exclusionary rule where the police officer conducted the warrantless blood draw in a drunk driving case, in violation of the law established in *McNeely* but done in reliance on *Bohling*'s per se rule.

C. The good faith exception does not apply because *Bohling* is not "clear and settled" precedent justifying a test for heroin in any detectable amount in this non-driving possession case.

It would not be reasonable for a police officer to rely on *Bohling*, a case involving alcohol concentration levels and drunk driving, in a case like this one, where there was no vehicle, no alcohol, and where the concentration level was irrelevant.

**Dearborn** discusses the good faith exception and sets out its limits. In **Dearborn**, this Court stated "under our holding today, the exclusionary rule is inappropriate only when the officer reasonably relies on clear and settled precedent. Our holding does not affect the vast majority of cases where neither this Court nor the United States Supreme Court have spoken with specificity in a particular fact situation." **Dearborn**, 327 Wis. 2d 252, ¶46. Thus, the language of **Dearborn** limits the application of the good faith exception to only those situations where the officer was acting in reliance on a case with the same type of facts.

Accordingly, the good faith exception should not apply in this case because *Bohling* and Mr. Parisi's case have entirely different facts – *Bohling* was about testing a suspected drunk driver for a specific level of alcohol concentration and this case is about finding evidence of heroin in any detectable amount and did not involve driving.

**Bohling** specifically referred to alcohol, percentage of alcohol in blood, and drunk driving over and over again. The court began by saying:

The issue in the case is whether the fact that the **percentage of alcohol** in a person's blood stream rapidly diminishes after drinking stops alone constitutes a sufficient exigency under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1 Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution, to justify a warrantless blood draw under the following circumstances: (1) the blood draw is taken at the direction of a law enforcement officer from a person lawfully arrested for a **drunk-driving related violation or crime**, and (2) there is a clear indication that the blood draw will produce evidence intoxication."

173 Wis. 2d at 533 (emphasis added).

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