# **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

07-31-2015

SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2014AP1267-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANDY J. PARISI,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE
COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II,
AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF THE
CIRCUIT COURT FOR WINNEBAGO COUNTY,
DANIEL J. BISSETT, JUDGE

## BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

THOMAS J. BALISTRERI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1523 (Phone) (608) 266-9594 (Fax) balistreritj@doj.state.wi.us

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The exclusionary rule should not be applied to suppress the results of a test of Parisi's blood where the police could have relied in good faith on settled precedent and made at worst a reasonable mistake of law in interpreting that precedent to believe they did not need exigent circumstances to take Parisi's blood without a warrant to search for evidence of drugs.<sup>1</sup>

This case comes at the confluence of two principles relating to the application of the exclusionary rule, a judicially created remedy designed to deter the deliberate, reckless or grossly negligent disregard of Fourth Amendment rights by the police. *See generally Davis v. United States*, 131 S. Ct. 2419, 2427 (2011).

First, the exclusionary rule does not apply to require the suppression of erroneously seized evidence when the police seized it in objectively reasonable reliance on clear and settled Wisconsin precedent that was later abrogated by the United States Supreme Court. *State v. Kennedy*, 2014 WI 132, ¶ 37, 359 Wis. 2d 454, 856 N.W.2d 834; *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 51, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. *Accord Davis*, 131 S. Ct. at 2423-24.

Second, the exclusionary rule does not apply so as to require the suppression of erroneously seized evidence when the police seized it in objectively reasonable reliance on a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For the purpose of this argument it does not matter whether or not there actually were exigent circumstances. Indeed, for the purpose of this argument it can be assumed that there were no exigent circumstances that would have excused the police from getting a warrant before seizing Parisi's blood. However, the second argument in this brief will show that exigent circumstances were present.

mistake of law. *See Heien v. North Carolina*, 135 S. Ct. 530, 536, 539 (2014); *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶¶ 44-46, \_\_\_Wis. 2d \_\_\_, \_\_N.W.2d \_\_\_, 2015 WL 4208659.

The police seized blood from the defendant-appellant-petitioner, Andy J. Parisi, on October 16, 2012 (30:5).

When the police seized Parisi's blood, *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. 1552 (2013), had not yet been decided by the United States Supreme Court. When the police seized Parisi's blood, *State v. Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d 529, 494 N.W.2d 399 (1993), decided almost twenty years earlier by the Wisconsin Supreme Court, was still the law in this state.

*Bohling* interpreted *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757 (1966). *Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d at 539-40.

In *Schmerber*, the Supreme Court held that the rapid dissipation of alcohol in the blood presented an exigent circumstance that allowed the police to seize a suspect's blood without a warrant. *Schmerber*, 384 U.S. at 770-71.

In *Bohling*, this court interpreted *Schmerber* to hold that an exigency based solely on the fact that alcohol dissipated rapidly in the blood was enough to draw blood without a warrant. *Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d at 533, 539-40, 547-48. So in *Bohling*, the court recognized a per se rule that the rapid dissipation of alcohol in the bloodstream alone constitutes a sufficient exigency for a warrantless blood draw to obtain evidence of intoxication. *Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d at 539, 547-48.

In *McNeely*, the Supreme Court recognized that lower courts had interpreted *Schmerber* differently. *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1558 & n.2. However, the Court said that the correct interpretation of *Schmerber* was that it did not create a per se rule. *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1559-60, 1563. The Supreme Court

ruled that the natural dissipation of alcohol in the bloodstream does not constitute an exigency sufficient to justify the seizure of blood without a warrant in every case, and that the reasonableness of a warrantless seizure must be determined case by case based on the totality of the circumstances. *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1563, 1568.

Thus, in the hindsight of *McNeely*, *Bohling* was wrongly decided because it interpreted *Schmerber* differently than the Supreme Court eventually interpreted *Schmerber*. So *McNeely* abrogated *Bohling*. *Kennedy*, 359 Wis. 2d 454, ¶ 29; *State v. Reese*, 2014 WI App 27, ¶¶ 17-18, 353 Wis. 2d 266, 844 N.W.2d 396.

The usual rule is that newly declared constitutional rules, including Fourth Amendment rules, must be applied retroactively to all pending cases that are not yet final at the time the decision was rendered. *Kennedy*, 359 Wis. 2d 454, ¶ 33; *Dearborn*, 327 Wis. 2d 252, ¶ 31. So *McNeely* must be applied to this case which is still on direct appeal. Assuming for the sake of this argument that Parisi's blood might have been seized without a warrant in the absence of exigent circumstances, that seizure would have been unlawful under *McNeely*.

But the fact that a constitutional rule applies retroactively to render a previous seizure unlawful does not necessarily mean that the exclusionary rule should also be applied to suppress the evidence that, in retrospect, has been unlawfully seized. *Davis*, 131 S. Ct. at 2430-31; *State v. Oberst*, 2014 WI App 58, ¶ 9, 354 Wis. 2d 278, 847 N.W.2d 892. *See Dearborn*, 327 Wis. 2d 252, ¶¶ 32-33.

In *Kennedy*, this court refused to apply the exclusionary rule to suppress evidence that was unlawfully seized without a warrant or exigent circumstances under *McNeely*, but was seized in objective good faith reliance on this court's then controlling precedent in *Bohling* which did not require specific

exigent circumstances to justify a seizure. *Kennedy*, 359 Wis. 2d 454, ¶ 39. *Accord Reese*, 353 Wis. 2d 266, ¶ 22.

*Kennedy* would be controlling law in this case but for the fact that *Bohling* was expressly based on the seizure of blood to test for the presence of alcohol while Parisi's blood was seized to test for the presence of drugs (30:16-18).

Noting that alcohol dissipates rapidly in the blood after a defendant stops drinking, *Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d at 538-45, that case specifically held that

the dissipation of alcohol from a person's bloodstream constitutes a sufficient exigency to justify a warrantless blood draw under the following circumstances: (1) the blood draw is taken at the direction of a law enforcement officer from a person lawfully arrested for a drunk-driving related violation or crime, and (2) there is a clear indication that the blood draw will produce evidence of intoxication.

Bohling, 173 Wis. 2d at 547-48.

So the fact that the police could have reasonably considered the precedent in *Bohling* to be valid controlling law when they seized Parisi's blood is not dispositive of the ultimate question whether the results of the test of Parisi's blood should be suppressed.

The second step of the inquiry in this case is to determine whether the exclusionary rule should be applied involves an assessment of whether the police officers who seized Parisi's blood could have reasonably believed that the controlling precedent in *Bohling* also applied to the seizure of blood to test for the presence of drugs, even if that belief might have possibly been mistaken.

As the Supreme Court reiterated in *Heien*, the ultimate test of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness. *Heien*, 135 S. Ct. at 536. But "[t]o be reasonable is not to be perfect, and so the Fourth Amendment allows for some mistakes on the part of government officials, giving them 'fair leeway for enforcing the law in the community's protection.'" *Heien*, 135 S. Ct. at 536. *Accord Houghton*, 2015 WL 4208659, ¶ 44.

The Court has recognized that searches and seizures based on mistakes of fact can still be reasonable. *Heien*, 135 S. Ct. at 536. But reasonable people make mistakes of law too. *Heien*, 135 S. Ct. at 536.

The officer may be reasonably mistaken on either ground. Whether the facts turn out to be not what was thought, or the law turns out to be not what was thought, the result is the same: the facts are outside the scope of the law. There is no reason, under the text of the Fourth Amendment or [Supreme Court] precedents, why this same result should be acceptable when reached by way of a reasonable mistake of fact, but not when reached by way of a similarly reasonable mistake of law.

Heien, 135 S. Ct. at 536. Accord Houghton, 2015 WL 4208659, ¶ 45.

In *Heien* and in *Houghton*, the police were mistaken about whether statutory law allowed them to seize a person. *Heien*, 135 S. Ct. at 534-35 (mistake that statute permitted seizure of person driving with only one working brake light); *Houghton*, 2015 WL 4208659, ¶¶ 56-64 (mistake that statute permitted seizure of person driving with air freshener hanging from rearview mirror). But there is no reason why constitutional principles regarding mistake of law should not apply where the police were arguably mistaken about whether case law allowed them to seize evidence.

Court decisions as much as statutes are "law." Black's Law Dictionary 259, 1015 (10th ed. 2014). Indeed, in *Heien*, the Court characterized *Davis*, where police relied on a subsequently overruled judicial decision, as a case where it "looked to the reasonableness of an officer's legal error." *Heien*, 135 S. Ct. at 539.

Moreover, because the Fourth Amendment protects persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures, it applies equally to seizures of persons and evidence. *See State v. Kiper*, 193 Wis. 2d 69, 81-83, 86, 532 N.W.2d 698 (1995); *State v. Douglas*, 123 Wis. 2d 13, 17, 25, 365 N.W.2d 580 (1985).

Although both *Heien* and *Houghton* found that there was no constitutional violation because of a reasonable mistake of law, *Heien*, 135 S. Ct. at 534, 539-40; *Houghton*, 2015 WL 4208659, ¶¶ 5-6, 71, in cases like this one where there arguably is a constitutional violation, a court can look to the reasonableness of an officer's legal error in considering whether to apply the exclusionary rule as an appropriate remedy for the violation. *Heien*, 135 S. Ct. at 539.

Finally, the fact that the legal mistakes in *Heien* and *Houghton* related to the requirement of reasonable suspicion, *Heien*, 135 S. Ct. at 534, 540; *Houghton*, 2015 WL 4208659, ¶¶ 5, 52, does not significantly differentiate those cases from this one.

Reasonable suspicion is necessary to justify a warrantless seizure of a person in a traffic stop. *Houghton*, 2015 WL 4208659, ¶ 30. Reasonable suspicion is also necessary to justify a warrantless seizure of blood. *State v. Thorstad*, 2000 WI App 199, ¶¶ 6, 13, 238 Wis. 2d 666, 618 N.W.2d 240. But exigent circumstances are necessary too. *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1563, 1568.

It makes no difference that the police were mistaken about the first of these requirements in *Heien* and *Houghton*, while they were arguably mistaken about the second of these requirements in this case. The critical fact is that in both situations the police may have made a mistake about the law that erroneously led them to believe a seizure was constitutionally permissible under the circumstances when actually it was not.

In *Houghton*, this court said that the "issue in this case is whether a seizure predicated on an objectively reasonable mistake of law violates constitutional protections against unreasonable searches and seizures." *Houghton*, 2015 WL 4208659, ¶ 31. That statement of the issue covers both the situation in *Heien* and *Houghton* and the situation in this case. It covers both mistakes of statutory law relating to reasonable suspicion to seize a person and mistakes of decisional law relating to exigent circumstances to seize evidence.

A mistake of law is a mistake of law. There is no principled basis for making fine distinctions among different kinds of mistakes in different kinds of law regarding different kinds of seizures. If the law imposes certain requirements to justify a seizure, and the police make a reasonable mistake about what that law requires, the exclusionary rule should not be applied to suppress the evidence that has been reasonably although mistakenly seized.

In determining whether the police could have reasonably believed that *Bohling* applied to seizures of blood to search for drugs as well as alcohol, the court does not examine the subjective understanding of the particular officer who made the seizure. *Heien*, 135 S. Ct. at 539. The question is whether that belief, whether correct or mistaken, was objectively reasonable instead of just a sloppy study of the law. *Heien*, 135 S. Ct. at 539-40; *Houghton*, 2015 WL 4208659, ¶ 52.

If an objectively reasonable police officer would have made a diligent study of the law on October 16, 2012, the officer would have discovered a decision of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals which, while not binding precedent, persuasively held that *Bohling* applied to seizures of blood to search for drugs.

In *State v. Malinowski*, 2011 WI App 1, 2010 WL 4840092 (Nov. 30, 2010) (authored unpublished decision), the court expressly confronted the question of whether *Bohling* applies to searches of blood for drugs as well as to searches for alcohol. *Malinowski*, 2010 WL 4840092, ¶¶ 1-2, 10-11.

Noting that a "majority of jurisdictions that have addressed this issue make no distinction between the dissipation of alcohol and drugs from the blood stream," the court "agree[d] with the majority of jurisdictions that it is not necessary to distinguish between alcohol and drugs for purposes of the exigent circumstances exception." *Malinowski*, 2010 WL 4840092, ¶¶ 13-14.

The court of appeals was especially convinced by *People v. Ritchie*, 181 Cal. Rptr. 773 (Cal. Ct. App. 1982), which held that distinguishing between alcohol and drugs in the context of determining exigent circumstances is a "'needless refinement'" because, while the rate of dissipation may be different, both alcohol and drugs dissipate and diminish over time. *Malinowski*, 2010 WL 4840092, ¶¶ 14-15. The court said there was no basis for any requirement that the police ascertain the nature of the drug allegedly ingested in order to determine just how fast it will dissipate. *Malinowski*, 2010 WL 4840092, ¶ 17.

Had the police contemporaneously consulted the leading treatise on the law of search and seizure they would have found the same thing. Professor LaFave similarly notes that a clear majority of jurisdictions that had addressed the issue made no distinction between the metabolization of alcohol and controlled drugs for the purpose of determining whether there were exigent circumstances. 3 Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure § 5.3(c) at 226-28 & n.132 (5th ed. 2012).

There is nothing in the opinion in *Bohling* that would cause anyone to question these authorities.

Although *Bohling* was aimed at alcohol, it said nothing to exclude drugs. *See Berg v. State*, 63 Wis. 2d 228, 238, 216 N.W.2d 521 (1974) (common error in analyzing opinions to assume that because X is included, Z is necessarily excluded). Although it may be true that some drugs do not dissipate as quickly as alcohol, *Bohling* did not set a timer on how rapidly a substance must dissipate to create exigent circumstances.

Indeed, *Bohling* cited a federal case which indicated that the exigent circumstances described in *Schmerber* would exist when the police searched for either drugs or alcohol because "[a]lcohol and other drugs are eliminated from the blood stream at a constant rate." *Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d at 543 (citing *United States v. Reid*, 929 F.2d 990, 993 (4th Cir. 1991)).

Based on the authorities available at the time Parisi's blood was taken, the police could have made an objectively reasonable determination that *Bohling* applied to the seizure of blood for the purpose of testing it for drugs, and therefore that they did not need any special exigent circumstances to excuse them from getting a warrant.

Interpreting *Bohling* to apply to drugs may have been right or it may have been wrong. But it does not matter whether that interpretation was correct. What matters is that it was objectively reasonable.

So even assuming for the sake of this argument that Parisi's blood might have been seized in the absence of exigent circumstances, because the police who seized Parisi's blood to search for evidence of drugs could have relied in good faith on the contemporaneous controlling precedent in *Bohling* and made at worst a reasonable mistake of law in interpreting *Bohling* to believe they did not need exigent circumstances to search for drugs, the exclusionary rule should not be applied to suppress the results of the test of Parisi's blood.

# II. There were exigent circumstances that excused the police from obtaining a warrant to seize Parisi's blood.

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